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U.S. NUCL.EAR REGULATORY COMMISSION 
(,1l..20111" 
,e OFF( 2.201 

NRC FORM 5!11M PART1 

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION 

,. 	L.ICENSEEILOCATION INs~eCTED: 2. NRC/r:tEGIONAL OFFICE 

Pro Contracting, Inc. 
315 Riverside Drive USNRC Region I 
Clarksburg, WV 2100 Renaissance Blvd, Sl.Iite 10.0 


King of Prussia, PA 19406-2713 

R5PORT NUMBE:R{S) 2012~OO1 


3. 	 DOCKeT NUMBER(S) t 4. LICENSE NUMSeR(S) 15. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION 

030~32171 47-25145~O1 June 7, 2012 - July 26, 2012 

LICENSEE: 

The Inspeedon was an e)(amination of the activiHes conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nvclear 
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules ar:d regulations and ttl" oondillons of your license. The inspeGIion consisted of selective eJ<aminaUons of 
procedures and representative records. interviews with personnel. and observations by the inspeclor. The inspeclion findings are as follows: 

1. Based on the inspection findings. no vlola\lons were Identlfled. 

2. 	 Previous vlolation(s) closed. 

3. 	The violation(s), specificslly described to yOu by tM inspector as llOn-<:ited violations, are not being ciled becsU$e they were 5elf­0 identified. non-repelillve. Clnd c:c:rrective "ction was Of Is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enlol'l:ement Polir;y. \0 

exercise discretion. were satisfied. 


Non-citad "iolallon(s) were discussed involving the following reql.lirement(s) and correetlve actlon(s): 

4. 	 During !hls Inspecllon. certain of your activities, as desCriOOld bOllow "ndlor anached. were 10 violation of NRC requirements and are being0 	 cilad in accordance v..1th the NRC Enforcement Policy. This form 110 a NOTICE OF VIOLATION. WhiCh may be subject to posting in 

accordance wi Ih 1 0 CFR 19. 11. 


I. 	 10 CFR 20.1101 requires, in part, that eaoh licensee periodically (aUess! annually) review the radiation 
protection pro9ram content and Implemlilntation. 

Contrary to the above, between OClober 1,2008, and June 7, 2012, Pro Contracting, Inc. (licensee), had 
not conducted a review of the radiation protection program conlent and implementation annually. 
Specifically. as of June 7, 2012, the licensee had not conducted a review of the radiation protecUon 
program since Oclober 1 • 2008, when responsibility for the lIcensed program was transfelTGd to the 
licensee, a period greater than annually. This is a Severity Level IV violation (Section 6.3). 

Statement of Correc.tive Actions 
I hereby state that, within 30 diilYS, the acllons dQ&ertbed by me to the Inspector will be taken to correot Ihe violations Identified. This slatement of 

corractlve aenOM Is made In accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective iteps already laken, IXlrreClive steps WI'llch will be t9ken. 

date when full compliance will be achieved). I understand thElI no further written response to NRC will pe reqUired. unless specifically requested. 


Title 	 Printed Name Signature Dale 
, 

LICENSEE'S REPRESENTATlVE 	 ~A~7TlL­v~\t!l B. Lc:."" '\ 
-"'" '" '>.;7........., f J;:::.} . 7-21..-'2­

NRC INSPECTOR Scott Wilson p;f~ 	 I / :l1t?11~ 
SRANCH CHIEfl Blake Welling \~.J. 	 :IL­

1/--' ~ 	 -r/Zb/rl._ 
"NRC FORM 591 M PART 1 (10·2011) (RI Rev. 02i0912012) G:\ONMS\WordOocs\Currenfllnsp Reoord\R47-2!)145-C 1.2012-001.591 M-Part1 .doc 

SUNSI Review Completed By: IRA/ SWilson 	 [;] Public [;] Non-Sensitive 
------------------------~-----

Tbis document becomes An NRC Oincial Ag;ncy Record onoe it j, signed by the Branch Chicr 



07/25/2012 23:09 3046222410 	 PRO CONTRACTING INC. PAGE 03/03 

NRC FORM 591M PART 2 	 U.S. NUCI.EAR REGULA'rORY COMMISSION 
(,MO,,) 
10 CFA 2.2Il1 

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION 
1. LICENSEE/LOCATION INSPECTED; 2. N~Cl;(EG10NAL OFFICii 

Pro Contracting, Inc. 
315 Riverside Drive 
Clarksburg, WV 

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
Region 1,2100 Renaissance Blvd, Suite 100 
King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406-2.713 

REPORT NUMBER(S) 

3. DOCKET NUMBER(S) 4. LICENSE NUMBE.R{S) 5. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION 

030-32171 47-25145-01 June 7, 2012 - July 26,2012 

(Continued) 

The' licensee agreed to implement corrective and preventative actions within 30 days. The corrective actions 
included the performance of a review of the radiation protection program content and implementation. The 
preventative action included employee refresher training regarding NRC license requirements. and the 
implementation of a system of reminders to notify the RSO when actions are due. 

II. 	 NRC License 47-25145-01, Amendment No.4, Condition 18, requires. in part, that the licensee is authorized to 
transport licensed material in accordance with the provisions of 10 CFR Part 71. ·Packaging and Transportation 
of Hadioactive Material." 

10 CFR Part 71 requires, in part.. that each licensee who transports licensed material outside the site of usage, 
as specified in the NRC license, shall comply with the applicable requirements ofthe Department of 
Transportation (DOT) regulations In 49 CFR parts 171 through 180, appropriate to the mode oitransport. 

49 CFR 172.704 requires. in part, that a haImat employee shall receive training required by the subpart. at least 
once every three years. 

Conlrary to the above. from October 2008, to May 2012. the licensee did not ensure tIlat HAZMAT employees 
(authorized gauge users). who performed functions subject to the requirements of 49 CFR Parts 171 - 177. 
were trained as required, Specifically, the licensee had not provided HAZMAT employee training from October 
1,2006. when responsibility for the licensed program was transferred to the licensee. to May 2012. a period 
greater than three years. This is a Severity Level IV violation (Section 6.3). 

The licensee stated that the requirement was not fully understood by the RSO. The licensee agreed to 
implemant corrective and preventative actions within 30 days. The licensee's corrective action is that It will 
ensure HAZMAT refresher training is current (within 3 years) for HAZMAT employees that transport licensed 
materiel. The licensee's preventative action includes employee refrssher training regarding NRC license 
requirements, and the implementation of a system of reminders to notify the RSO when actions are due. 

III. 	 NRC Li~ense 47·25145--01. Amendment No.4. Condition 15. requires, in part, that the licensee conduct a 
physical inventory every six months. or at intervals approved by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, to 
SCl",oUr'lt for alt sources andlor devices received ano possessed under the license. The Condition also requires 
that records of inventories be maintained for 5 years from the date of each inventory and Include the 
radionuclide. Cluantltles, manufacturer's name and model number. and the date of the inventory. 

Contrary to the above. the licensee did not conduct a physical Inventory every six months, to account for all 
SOIJrces and or devices possessed under the license. Specifically. the licensee possessed two Troxler 
Electronic LaboratOries 3400 series portable gauging devices and, as of June 7.2012. had not conducted a 
physical inventol)l since October 1. 2008, when responsibility for Ihe licensed program was transferred to the 
licensee, a period greater than six months. This is a Severity Level IV violation (Seotion 6.3) 

The licensee agreed to implement corrective and preventative actions within 30 days, Including 1) the conduct of 
a physical inventory of all devices possessed within 30 days. Elnd every 6 months thereafter; 2) conduct of 
employee refresher training regarding NRC license reqUirements and; 3) the implementstion of a system of 
reminders to notify the RSO when actions are due. 

NRC FORM 591 M PART 2 (10·2011) 


